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To our investors,

Sundar Pichai

CEO of Google and Alphabet

The pandemic continues to test the resilience of our 

communities and change the ways we work, learn, and 

online, greater amounts of information are being 

created than ever before; it’s an exciting challenge 

for a company whose mission is to organize the 

world’s information and make it universally accessible 

In 2021, our teams approached this mission with new 

purpose and possibility, and continued to develop 

helpful technologies with a view toward empowering 

We introduced new ways to search visually and 

people found vaccination sites near them, used Live 

View to navigate through tricky indoor spaces like 

We also built tools and features that help businesses 

on Google Workspace is helping teams work together 

in a hybrid environment, and our Work Safer program 

provides Google Cloud customers with the highest 

As cities and towns began to open up again, we 

to train 10 million people and businesses in digital 

skills in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa; invested 

in Black founders and entrepreneurs; and launched 

For example, we launched a new phone designed 

our campuses and data centers on carbon-free 

were operating near or above 90% carbon-free 

help 1 billion people make more sustainable choices, 

bringing carbon emissions information to Google 

2021 marked two decades of AI and machine 

for web searches has developed into a foundational 

technology powering some of our most helpful 

bring the best of AI and ML features to our phones, 

we developed our custom silicon Tensor chip, which 

By investing in advanced technologies we continue 

For example, DeepMind’s AlphaFold system 

reached a protein-folding breakthrough that solved 

a 50-year-old challenge of biology, and Google’s 

quantum researchers observed a phenomenon 

In the year ahead, we will continue to build on our 

advances in knowledge and computing to help 

more about our vision of this future when we bring 

I want to express my gratitude to everyone at 
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A year of resilience and adaptation

Around the world, 2021 brought new 
challenges to how we live, with each day 

People, businesses, and communities were 
tested in profound ways but found the 
resilience they needed to endure in the face 

that meant harnessing the best of AI and 
new technologies to help the world face the 
pandemic, build helpful products, protect 

3Year in Review 2021
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Year in Search
This year, the world searched 

Helping the world 
respond to the 
pandemic

COVID-19 Memorial 

4
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As the pandemic entered a new chapter, we knew 

was to keep people informed with authoritative 

information and connect them with resources for 

surge, and as varying terminology and vaccine 

names proliferated, connecting people with the 

AI milestone, we were able to identify over 800 

variations of vaccine names in more than 50 

timely, high-quality information about COVID-19 

relevant vaccine information, we expanded our 

COVID-19 information panels on Search to more 

government agencies, and retail pharmacies to 

gather vaccine location information and build it into 

with information like whether an appointment or 

to authoritative information, we conducted nearly 

10,000 fact checks of sources appearing in Search 

and Google News, and we invested in organizations 

working to stop the spread of misinformation through 

Google News Initiative’s COVID-19 Vaccine Counter-

vaccines to billions of people quickly presented a 

ad grants for the CDC Foundation, the World Health 

accelerate the pace of vaccinations, Google Cloud 

worked with healthcare organizations, retail 

pharmacies, logistics companies, and public sector 

institutions to facilitate vaccine delivery and 

populations lacking equal access to vaccines, 

organizations addressing racial and geographic 

Alliance, to secure vaccines for 250,000 people 

and promote vaccine education for low- and middle-

until the health of every community around the world 

Search results
Search and Maps were updated to quickly connect 

people with nearby vaccination sites and essential 

10,000 
fact checks about 

the pandemic across 

5Year in Review 2021
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Building products 
to help in moments 

The new Google Tensor chip enables the Pixel 6 

and Pixel 6 Pro to develop new capabilities over time 

by keeping pace with the latest advancements in 

Pixel 6 

6

YearinReview2021_Print_r15.indd   6 4/18/22   8:19 AM



The world continued to work, learn, and play from 

home, so we made it our focus to give everyone 

Workspace is that anyone with a Google Account 

now has access to a more seamless, collaborative 

experience across Gmail, Chat, Calendar, Drive, 

like presence indicators, expressive reactions, and 

videoconferencing, we introduced new innovations, 

reduction, translated captions, and breakout rooms 

In October, we released Pixel 6 and Pixel 6 Pro, the 

by Google Tensor, our custom system on a chip, 

and shipping with Android 12, these new Pixel phones 

making Pixel 6 and Pixel 6 Pro more helpful and

2021 was also a big year for Search: At I/O, we 

information understanding technology that’s 

MUM is multimodal, which means it can process 

people search an image with a text query alongside 

into a single query, we’re helping people express 

7Year in Review 2021
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In Maps, we introduced new features to help keep 

to local resources, allowing people to make quick, 

We also worked to address the fact that several 

billion people around the world still don’t have an 

governments and NGOs to provide addresses to 

people around the world with our new, free Address 

Maker app, which uses our open source system 

called Plus Codes to create unique, functioning 

Through these improvements and more, we are 

working to give every community the tools it needs 

Plus Codes
Several billion people still don’t have an address, 

for granted, like voting, opening a bank account, 

organizations like governments and NGOs can 

now use our open source system called Plus Codes 

to create unique, functioning addresses at scale, 

people with resources from local governments and, 

8
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Project Starline 

experience that simulates being face-to-face even 

in computer vision, machine learning, spatial audio, 

Quantum AI campus
In May, we opened our new Quantum AI campus in 

9Year in Review 2021
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“I hope this can help 
people get through their 
day with dignity and 

Ashley Sundquist, a member of the Google Maps 

Local Guide program, on using the app to create 

or accept EBT cards for unhoused people in her 

Photo credit: Chris Ruggiero of Beyond Dreams Creative
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Our products and services are only as helpful as 

the safeguards that protect them, which became 

Over the year, we made investments and developed 

new innovations so that every day people are safer 

With businesses transitioning to hybrid work, cyber 

making it that much more essential for people to trust 

and more organizations chose Google Cloud to drive 

their digital transformation, we formed the Google 

in making the most of our tools and achieving cyber-

strengthen cybersecurity, including expanding zero-

For consumers, one of the biggest risks they 

continuously face is their reliance on passwords, 

keep this threat at bay: We added a new tool that 

managers and deepened integrations with Chrome, 

Trust and safety work only when people have control 

“quick delete” option to delete the last 15 minutes 

of your Search history with a single tap from the 

Folder in Photos, a password-protected option 

introduced industry-leading transparency and 

permission features, including a new Privacy 

Dashboard, where people will see a timeline of 

when apps accessed their camera, microphone, 

B
photos encrypted by 

B
installed apps utilizing 

security scans run by 

Earning user 
trust with safer 
experiences

12
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With Locked Folder, people can create a passcode-

protected space where they can save photos 

separately, so they won’t show up as they scroll 

through Google Photos or any other apps on 

Kid and teen safety
Across our products we made a number of updates 

the most private option available for teens ages 13–17 

13Year in Review 2021
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success, and even early on in 2021, we were 

We continued to make hundreds of improvements 

it’s now even easier for businesses to claim their 

On YouTube, more people created content than 

ever before, and the number of YouTube channels 

that made at least $10,000 in revenue increased 

dramatic growth, with over 15 billion views each day 

At Google Cloud, we helped customers take on the 

Google apps and services to transform its business 

We also worked to help consumers and businesses 

like Shopify and WooCommerce enabled millions of 

merchants to feature their products across Google 

new, more visual shopping experience on Search 

Shopping Graph, which analyzes variables to connect 

shoppers with the most relevant products as they 

like product feeds and live commerce to make it even 

than ever from our network and Google remained one 

through our services and through our direct funding 

Google News Showcase, a product experience and 

licensing program designed to connect readers with 

created over 1 million News Showcase panels and 

stay up to date with their favorite publishers over 

Google Cloud to help advance 5G in enterprise and 

consumer segments in India, a crucial step toward 

and success
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Travel trends

and select countries in APAC and EMEA get a clear 

Shopping
Google’s Shopping Graph, a comprehensive, 

real-time data set of products, inventory, and 

merchants with more than 24 billion listings, 

B
There are now over 

1 billion shopping 

sessions per day 
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“Speed is imperative, 
but our reputations are 

The Boston Globe’s quick-strike investigative team 

was awarded the 2021 Pulitzer Prize for investigative 

governments’ failures to share information to keep 

uses the best of Google’s AI and machine learning 

technology, helped the team quickly go through troves 

imperative, but our reputations are staked on the 

16
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Creating economic 
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While the world was reshaped by unprecedented 

sector continued to be one of the hardest hit, so to 

help them accomplish more and connect with their 

In Search and Maps, businesses can now tailor their 

Google’s commitment of $185 million enabled 

Grow with Google Small Business Fund and OFN’s 

delivered low-interest loans to over 50 community 

in turn provided loans to tens of thousands of 

years, the loans and grants were disbursed to OFN-

including our $15 million commitment to fund small 

Throughout the year, we saw searches like 

B

tools helped provide 

$617 billion of economic 

activity for millions of 

American businesses, 

businesses received 

direct connections 

to their customers 

Google invested over 

$7 billion in data centers 

,

Additionally, we made it free for every business on 

Shopify, WooCommerce, GoDaddy, and Square to 
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which we currently lease and expect to open by 

Rendering credit: COOKFOX Architects

With the Digital Future Initiative, we made a 

including initiatives to strengthen digital infrastructure, 

develop Australian technology and talent, and solve 

event, we announced a $1 billion commitment in 

from improved connectivity to investments in 

Through these commitments, we hope to create 
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We would never have 
reached so many suitable 
new customers without 

Manon Weßels, owner of the German small 

business das schöne leben, a store that specializes 

in exceptional food and designer products for 

alongside their in-store sales and set up a Business 

leben now has customers of all ages throughout 

Germany and has tripled its direct online orders 

22
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B
We surpassed our goal to 

spend $1 billion with diverse-

owned suppliers in 2021 by 

Camera Switches 
We expanded the Android Accessibility Suite with 

Camera Switches, a new feature in Switch Access 

that turns your phone’s camera into a new type of 

switch that enables you to navigate your phone with 

Building a more 

 inclusive world
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Building an equitable and inclusive world for all is 

central to our mission, and over the course of the 

change both within our own workplace and in the 

commitments to build a more inclusive and equitable 

leadership representation of Black+, Latinx+, and 

goal, and we’re on track to double the number of 

also retain underrepresented employees, we piloted 

a new onboarding program designed to foster 

seen positive results: So far, 80% of respondents 

Our responsibility to help build an inclusive world is 

launch of Pixel 6 and Pixel 6 Pro we unveiled a more 

launched Camera Switches, a new Android feature 

that improves accessibility by making it possible for 

To promote equity and inclusion beyond Google, 

we made commitments to broaden access to 

funding to Historically Black Colleges and 

invest in their communities, and we expanded 

the Grow with Google Career Readiness Program 

Black Founders Fund and Latino Founders 

Fund helped high-potential founders grow their 

businesses, and we’re already seeing promising 

Recognizing that COVID-19 was quickly widening X retention 
investment
We expanded our Retention 

& Progression team and 

tripled our investment in 

Founders 
Fund 
To help expand access 

Black Founders Fund 

provided $100,000 to 

entrepreneurs, including 

immediately helped grow 

25Year in Review 2021
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how we see each other 
and the world around us, 
and historically racial bias 
in camera technology 

Florian Koenigsberger, Google Image Equity Lead 

on Real Tone, a series of key improvements for the 

Pixel 6 and Pixel 6 Pro across our face detection, 

more equitable camera and imaging products, 

Photo credit: Noémie Tshinanga
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Aundre Larrow
2021

Sam Robinson
2021

2021

Real Tone 
The Pixel 6 and Pixel 6 Pro cameras debuted Real 

how cameras represent people of color and create 
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The climate crisis remains the greatest challenge of 

our time, one that we take on with ambitious thinking, 

of that, we have a goal to operate 24/7 on carbon-free 

energy for all our data centers and campuses by the 

search, every email, and every YouTube video without 

we’ve been innovating technology to optimize clean 

energy use and storage across data centers to run the 

of new carbon-free energy around the world, making 

Google the largest corporate purchaser of renewable 

Our new Bay View campus in Mountain View, 

California, embodies our aspiration to create 

workplaces that exceed the highest standards of 

free energy goal, we needed to prioritize alternate 

solar panels are one such innovation, a striking 

combination of form and function that envelops the 

In our products, we’ve launched new features 

to help a billion people make sustainable choices 

route, Google Maps will also display the one that’s 

In Google Flights, we introduced carbon emissions 

information so that people can see estimated carbon 

At home, Nest thermostats now have a service 

electricity usage for heating and cooling to times 

Our Environmental Insights Explorer tool empowers 

city planners and policymakers with actionable 

climate-focused data, and in 2021, we expanded its 

by providing shade, lowering temperatures, and 

contributing cleaner air; this tool uses aerial imagery 

and advanced AI capabilities to identify places in 

a city that are at the greatest risk of experiencing 

to 100 cities, we helped city planners around the 

Taking decisive 
action against the 
climate crisis
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B 

$4 billion to purchase clean energy from more than 

Solar panels 
Our ambition to operate 24/7 on carbon-free energy 

requires substantial investment in clean energy 

Dragonscale
Google’s new Bay View campus in Mountain View 

embodies our commitment to operate sustainably, 

with dragonscale solar power roofs that serve as 

Photo credit: Christopher McAnneny, Heatherwick Studio
Tree Canopy 
With Tree Canopy Insights in our Environmental 

Insights Explorer, city planners can monitor tree 

coverage in urban environments to determine 
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Wing 
Wing unveiled a new model for drone delivery that will 

allow expansion into densely populated metropolitan 

DeepMind released the AlphaFold Protein Structure 

Biology Laboratory, more than doubling the number 

of high-accuracy human protein structures available 

to accelerate their work, and now DeepMind plans 

Other 
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Waymo 
2021 marked the one-year anniversary of Waymo 

One, Waymo’s fully autonomous ride-hailing 

service in metro Phoenix that’s served tens of 

thousands of rider-only trips to thousands of paying 

in San Francisco through the Waymo One Trusted 

Tester program, and throughout the year, Waymo 

Via delivered freight autonomously for key industry 

X
X continues to produce a compelling range of 

include Intrinsic, a new Alphabet company developing 

is delivering high-speed, high-capacity connectivity 

over long distances, and moonshots for the electric 

Isomorphic Laboratories 
We launched a new Alphabet company, Isomorphic 

Laboratories, a commercial venture that will take an 

as modeling and understanding some of the 

31Year in Review 2021
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PART I

 —  RISK FACTORS

We generate a significant portion of our revenues from advertising, and reduced spending by advertisers, a loss of partners, or 
new and existing technologies that block ads online and/or affect our ability to customize ads could harm our business. 

We face intense competition. If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that are useful to users, 
customers, and other partners, we may not remain competitive, which could harm our business and operating results. 
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PART I

Our ongoing investment in new businesses, products, services, and technologies is inherently risky, and could divert 
management attention and harm our financial condition and operating results. 

Our revenue growth rate could decline over time, and we anticipate downward pressure on our operating margin in the future. 

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of our products, services, 
and brands as well as affect our ability to compete. 
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PART I

Our business depends on strong brands, and failing to maintain and enhance our brands would hurt our ability to expand our 
base of users, advertisers, customers, content providers, and other partners. 

We face a number of manufacturing and supply chain risks that could harm our financial condition, operating results, and prospects.



 ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART I

Interruption to, interference with, or failure of our complex information technology and communications systems could hurt 
our ability to effectively provide our products and services, which could harm our reputation, financial condition, and operating 
results. In addition, problems with the design or implementation of our new global enterprise resource planning system could 
harm our business and operations.

Our international operations expose us to additional risks that could harm our business, our financial condition, and operating results.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART I

Risks Related to our Industry
People access the Internet through a variety of platforms and devices that continue to evolve with the advancement of 
technology and user preferences. If manufacturers and users do not widely adopt versions of our products and services 
developed for these interfaces, our business could be harmed.

Data privacy and security concerns relating to our technology and our practices could damage our reputation, cause us to 

and interference with our users’ and customers’ ability to use our products and services, harming our business operations and 
reputation. 
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PART I

Our ongoing investments in safety, security, and content review will likely continue to identify abuse of our platforms and misuse 
of user data. 

Problematic content on our platforms, including low-quality user-generated content, web spam, content farms, and other 
violations of our guidelines could affect the quality of our services, which could damage our reputation and deter our current 
and potential users from using our products and services. 
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PART I

Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to the Internet by us and our users. Internet access providers may 
be able to restrict, block, degrade, or charge for access to certain of our products and services, which could lead to additional 
expenses and the loss of users and advertisers. 

We face increased regulatory scrutiny as well as changes in regulatory conditions, laws, and policies governing a wide range of 
topics that may negatively affect our business. 
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PART I

A variety of new and existing laws and/or interpretations could harm our business. 
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PART I

We are subject to claims, suits, government investigations, other proceedings, and consent decrees that may harm our business, 
financial condition, and operating results. 

We may be subject to legal liability associated with providing online services or content. 

Privacy and data protection regulations are complex and rapidly evolving areas. Any failure or alleged failure to comply with 
these laws could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results. 

 

 

 



 ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART I

We face, and may continue to face, intellectual property and other claims that could be costly to defend, result in significant 
damage awards or other costs (including indemnification awards), and limit our ability to use certain technologies in the future. 
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PART I

Risks Related to Ownership of our Stock
We cannot guarantee that any share repurchase program will be fully consummated or will enhance long-term stockholder value, 
and share repurchases could increase the volatility of our stock prices and could diminish our cash reserves. 

The concentration of our stock ownership limits our stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters. 

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider 
favorable.
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PART I

General Risks
The continuing effects of COVID-19 are highly unpredictable and could be significant, and may have an adverse effect on our 
business, operations and our future financial performance.

Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict and could cause our results to fall short of 
expectations.

Acquisitions, joint ventures, investments, and divestitures could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and other consequences 
that may harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. 
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PART I

If we were to lose the services of key personnel, we may not be able to execute our business strategy. 

We rely on highly skilled personnel and, if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel, hire qualified personnel, or 
maintain our corporate culture, we may not be able to grow effectively. 

We are exposed to fluctuations in the fair values of our investments and, in some instances, our financial statements incorporate 
valuation methodologies that are subjective in nature resulting in fluctuations over time. 

tax liabilities. 
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PART I

The trading price for our Class A stock and non-voting Class C stock may continue to be volatile.
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PART I

 —  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

 —  PROPERTIES

 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
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 PART II

 — MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

As of October 2, 2015, Alphabet Inc. became the successor issuer of Google Inc. pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act. 
Our Class A common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “GOOG” since August 19, 2004 
and under the symbol “GOOGL” since April 3, 2014. Prior to August 19, 2004, there was no public market for our stock. Our Class B 
common stock is neither listed nor traded. Our Class C capital stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the 
symbol “GOOG” since April 3, 2014.

Holders of Record 

C capital stock, respectively. Because many of our shares of Class A common stock and Class C capital stock are held by brokers 
and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these 

Dividend Policy 
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common or capital stock. The primary use of capital continues to be to 
invest for the long-term growth of the business. We regularly evaluate our cash and capital structure, including the size, pace, and 
form of capital return to stockholders. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
The following table presents information with respect to Alphabet’s repurchases of Class A common stock and Class C capital stock 

Period

Total Number 
of Class 

A Shares 
Purchased 

(in thousands) (1)

Total Number of 
Class C Shares 

Purchased 
(in thousands) (1)

Average Price  
Paid per  

Class A Share(2)

Average Price  
Paid per  

Class C Share(2)

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 
as Part of Publicly 

Announced Programs
(in thousands)(1)

Approximate Dollar 
Value of Shares 
that May Yet Be 

Purchased Under 
the Program 
(in millions)

October 1 - 31 1,445 $ $ $

November 1 - 30 289 1,393 $ $ $

December 1 - 31 250 $ $ 1,419 $
Total

(1) The repurchases are being executed from time to time, subject to general business and market conditions and other investment opportunities, through 
open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions, including through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The repurchase program does not have an expiration 
date. See Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information 
related to share repurchases.

(2) Average price paid per share includes costs associated with the repurchases. 
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Stock Performance Graphs  
The graph below matches Alphabet Inc. Class A’s cumulative 5-year total stockholder return on common stock with the cumulative 
total returns of the S&P 500 index, the NASDAQ Composite index, and the RDG Internet Composite index. The graph tracks the 
performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends) from December 31, 
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The graph below matches Alphabet Inc. Class C’s cumulative 5-year total stockholder return on capital stock with the cumulative total 
returns of the S&P 500 index, the NASDAQ Composite index, and the RDG Internet Composite index. The graph tracks the performance 
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 —  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

related notes included under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Understanding Alphabet’s Financial Results 
Alphabet is a collection of businesses — the largest of which is Google. We report Google in two segments, Google Services and 
Google Cloud; we also report all non-Google businesses collectively as Other Bets. Other Bets include earlier stage technologies that 

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Trends in Our Business and Financial Effect 
The following long-term trends have contributed to the results of our consolidated operations, and we anticipate that they will continue 

 Users’ behaviors and advertising continue to shift online as the digital economy evolves. 
The continuing shift from an offline to online world has contributed to the growth of our business since inception, contributing to 

 Users are increasingly using diverse devices and modalities to access our products and services, and our advertising revenues 
are increasingly coming from new formats.

Our users are accessing the Internet via diverse devices and modalities, such as smartphones, wearables and smart home devices, 
and want to be able to be connected no matter where they are or what they are doing. We are focused on expanding our products 
and services to stay in front of these trends in order to maintain and grow our business.

We are increasingly generating advertising revenues from different channels, including mobile, and newer advertising formats. The 
margins on advertising revenues from these channels and newer products have generally been lower than those from traditional 
desktop search. Additionally, as the market for a particular device type or modality matures, our revenues may be affected. For 
example, growth in the global smartphone market has slowed due to various factors, including increased market saturation in 
developed countries, which can affect our mobile advertising revenue growth rates.

We expect TAC paid to our distribution partners and Google Network partners to increase as our revenues grow and TAC as a 
percentage of our advertising revenues (“TAC rate”) to be affected by changes in device mix; geographic mix; partner mix; partner 
agreement terms; the percentage of queries channeled through paid access points; product mix; the relative revenue growth rates 
of advertising revenues from different channels; and revenue share terms.

We expect these trends to continue to affect our revenue growth rates and put pressure on our margins. 

 As online advertising evolves, we continue to expand our product offerings, which may affect our monetization.
As interactions between users and advertisers change, and as online user behavior evolves, we continue to expand and evolve our 
product offerings to serve these changing needs. Over time, we expect our monetization trends to fluctuate. For example, we have 
seen an increase in revenues from ads on YouTube and Google Play, which monetize at a lower rate than our traditional search ads.

 As users in developing economies increasingly come online, our revenues from international markets continue to increase 
and movements in foreign exchange rates affect such revenues.

The shift to online, as well as the advent of the multi-device world, has brought opportunities outside of the U.S., including in emerging 
markets, such as India. We continue to invest heavily and develop localized versions of our products and advertising programs relevant 
to our users in these markets. This has led to a trend of increased revenues from emerging markets. We expect that our results will 
continue to be affected by our performance in these markets, particularly as low-cost mobile devices become more available. This 
trend could affect our revenues as developing markets initially monetize at a lower rate than more mature markets.
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rates relative to the U.S. dollar. While we have a foreign exchange risk management program designed to reduce our exposure to 
these fluctuations, this program does not fully offset their effect on our revenues and earnings.

 The portion of revenues that we derive from non-advertising revenues is increasing and may adversely affect margins.
Non-advertising revenues have grown over time. We expect this trend to continue as we focus on expanding our offerings through 
products and services like Google Cloud, Google Play, hardware products, and YouTube subscriptions. We currently derive 
non-advertising revenues primarily from sales of apps and in-app purchases, digital content products, and hardware; and licensing 
and service fees, including fees received for Google Cloud services and subscription and other services. A number of Other Bets 
initiatives are in their initial development stages, and as such, revenues from these businesses could be volatile. In addition, the 

 As we continue to serve our users and expand our businesses, we will invest heavily in operating and capital expenditures.

includes servers and network equipment, to support the long-term growth of our business. In addition, acquisitions and strategic 
investments contribute to the breadth and depth of our offerings, expand our expertise in engineering and other functional areas, 
and build strong partnerships around strategic initiatives. For example, in January 2021 we closed the acquisition of Fitbit, Inc. for 
$2.1 billion, which is expected to help spur innovation in wearable devices.

 We face continuing changes in regulatory conditions, laws, and public policies, which could affect our business practices 

Changes in social, political, economic, tax, and regulatory conditions or in laws and policies governing a wide range of topics and 

cost of doing business may increase, and our ability to pursue certain business models or offer certain products or services may be 

the Digital Markets Act in Europe, and various legislative proposals in the U.S. focused on large technology platforms.

 Our employees are critical to our success and we expect to continue investing in them.
Our employees are among our best assets and are critical for our continued success. We expect to continue hiring talented employees 

Item 1 “Business.”

Seasonality and other
Our advertising revenues are affected by seasonal fluctuations in internet usage, advertising expenditures, and underlying business 
trends, such as traditional retail seasonality. Additionally, our non-advertising revenues, including those generated from Google 
Cloud, Google Play, hardware, and YouTube, may be affected by fluctuations driven by changes in pricing, digital content releases, 
fee structures, new product and service launches, other market dynamics, as well as seasonality. 

Revenues and Monetization Metrics 

GOOGLE SERVICES

Google Services revenues consist of revenues generated from advertising (“Google advertising”) as well as revenues from other 
sources (“Google other revenues”).

Google Advertising

 

by search distribution partners who use Google.com as their default search in browsers, toolbars, etc.), and other Google owned 
and operated properties like Gmail, Google Maps, and Google Play;

 YouTube ads, which includes revenues generated on YouTube properties; and
 Google Network, which includes revenues generated on Google Network properties participating in AdMob, AdSense, and Google 
Ad Manager.
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Paid clicks represent engagement by users and include clicks on advertisements by end-users on Google search properties and 

revenues divided by our total number of paid clicks and represents the average amount we charge advertisers for each engagement 
by users.

Impressions include impressions displayed to users on Google Network properties participating primarily in AdMob, AdSense, and 

impressions, and represents the average amount we charge advertisers for each impression displayed to users.

number of paid clicks and the number of impressions, and for identifying the revenues generated by the corresponding click and 
impression activity.

Our advertising revenue growth, as well as the change in paid clicks and cost-per-click on Google Search & other properties and the 
change in impressions and cost-per-impression on Google Network properties and the correlation between these items, have been 

 advertiser competition for keywords;
 changes in advertising quality, formats, delivery or policy;
 changes in device mix;
 changes in foreign currency exchange rates;
 fees advertisers are willing to pay based on how they manage their advertising costs;
 general economic conditions, including the effect of COVID-19;
 seasonality; and
 

Google Other

 Google Play, which includes sales of apps and in-app purchases and digital content sold in the Google Play store;
 Devices and Services, which includes sales of hardware, including Fitbit wearable devices, Google Nest home products, and Pixel 
phones;

 YouTube non-advertising, which includes YouTube Premium and YouTube TV subscriptions; and
 other products and services.

GOOGLE CLOUD

 Google Cloud Platform, which includes fees for infrastructure, platform, and other services;
 Google Workspace, which includes fees for cloud-based collaboration tools for enterprises, such as Gmail, Docs, Drive, Calendar 
and Meet; and 

 other enterprise services.

OTHER BETS

Revenues from Other Bets are generated primarily from the sale of health technology and internet services.

For further details on how we recognize revenue, see Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Costs and Expenses 

R&D, sales and marketing, and general and administrative functions. Certain of these expenses, including those associated with the 
operation of our technical infrastructure as well as components of our operating expenses, are generally less variable in nature and 
may not correlate to the changes in revenue.
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COST OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues is comprised of TAC and other costs of revenues.

 

 — Amounts paid to our distribution partners who make available our search access points and services. Our distribution partners 
include browser providers, mobile carriers, original equipment manufacturers, and software developers.

 — Amounts paid to Google Network partners primarily for ads displayed on their properties.

 

 — Content acquisition costs, which are payments to content providers from whom we license video and other content for distribution 
on YouTube and Google Play (we pay fees to these content providers based on revenues generated or a flat fee).

 — Expenses associated with our data centers (including bandwidth, compensation expenses, depreciation, energy, and other 
equipment costs) as well as other operations costs (such as content review as well as customer and product support costs).

 — Inventory and other costs related to the hardware we sell.

than the cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues generated from ads placed on Google Search & other properties, because 
most of the advertiser revenues from ads served on Google Network properties are paid as TAC to our Google Network partners.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses are generally incurred during our normal course of business, which we categorize as either R&D, sales and 
marketing, or general and administrative.

 compensation expenses for engineering and technical employees responsible for R&D related to our existing and new products 
and services; 

 depreciation; and
 professional services fees primarily related to consulting and outsourcing services.

 compensation expenses for employees engaged in sales and marketing, sales support, and certain customer service functions; and
 spending relating to our advertising and promotional activities in support of our products and services.

 

support functions; 
 

 professional services fees, including audit, consulting, outside legal, and outsourcing services.

Other Income (Expense), Net 
Other income (expense), net primarily consists of interest income (expense), the effect of foreign currency exchange gains (losses), 
net gains (losses) and impairment on our marketable and non-marketable securities, performance fees, and income (loss) and 
impairment from our equity method investments. 

For additional details, including how we account for our investments and factors that can drive fluctuations in the value of our 
investments, see Note 1 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual 

Provision for Income Taxes 
Provision for income taxes represents the estimated amount of federal, state, and foreign income taxes incurred in the U.S. and the 

considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties.

For additional details, including a reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to our effective tax rate, see Note 14 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Executive Overview

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021 $ Change % Change

Consolidated revenues $ $ $ 41%

Change in consolidated constant currency revenues 39%

Cost of revenues $ $ 110,939 $ 31%

Operating expenses $ $ $ 11,413 20%

Operating income $ 41,224 $ $ 91%

Operating margin 23% 31% 8%

Other income (expense), net $ $ 12,020 $ %

Net Income $ $ $ 89%

Diluted EPS $ $ 112.20 $ 53.59 91%

Number of Employees 135,301 21,199 %

 

Cloud. The adverse effect of COVID-19 on 2020 advertising revenues also contributed to the year-over-year growth.
 Cost of revenues was $110.9 billion, an increase of 31%, primarily driven by increases in TAC and content acquisition costs. An 
overall increase in data centers and other operations costs was partially offset by a reduction in depreciation expense due to the 
change in the estimated useful life of our servers and certain network equipment.

 

promotional expenses and charges related to legal matters.

Other information:
 

 

in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information. 
 

 In January 2021, we updated the useful lives of certain of our servers and network equipment, resulting in a reduction in depreciation 

included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.
 Our acquisition of Fitbit closed in early January 2021, and the related revenues are included in Google other. See Note 8 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.

 On February 1, 2022, the Company announced that the Board of Directors had approved and declared a 20-for-one stock split in 
the form of a one-time special stock dividend on each share of the Company’s Class A, Class B, and Class C stock. See Note 11 of 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

The Effect of COVID-19 on our Financial Results 

our advertising revenues declined compared to the prior year. This was due to a shift of user search activity to less commercial 
topics and reduced spending by our advertisers. For the quarter ended June 30, 2020 our advertising revenues declined due to the 
continued effects of COVID-19 and the related reductions in global economic activity, but we observed a gradual return in user search 
activity to more commercial topics. This was followed by increased spending by our advertisers, which continued throughout the 
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second half of 2020. Additionally, over the course of 2020, we experienced variability in our margins as many of our expenses are less 
variable in nature and/or may not correlate to changes in revenues. Market volatility contributed to fluctuations in the valuation of 
our equity investments. Further, our assessment of the credit deterioration of our customers due to changes in the macroeconomic 
environment during the period was reflected in our allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable. 

Throughout 2021 we remained focused on innovating and investing in the services we offer to consumers and businesses to support 

Financial Results

Revenues

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Google Search & other $ $ 148,951
YouTube ads 28,845
Google Network 23,090

Google advertising

Google other 28,032
Google Services total

Google Cloud 13,059
Other Bets

Hedging gains (losses) 149
Total revenues $ $

Google Services

GOOGLE ADVERTISING REVENUES

Google Search & other
Google Search & other revenues increased $44.9 billion from 2020 to 2021. The overall growth was driven by interrelated factors 
including increases in search queries resulting from growth in user adoption and usage, primarily on mobile devices, growth in 
advertiser spending, and improvements we have made in ad formats and delivery. The adverse effect of COVID-19 on 2020 revenues 
also contributed to the year-over-year increase.

YouTube ads
YouTube ads revenues increased $9.1 billion from 2020 to 2021. Growth was driven by our direct response and brand advertising 
products. Growth for our direct response advertising products was primarily driven by increased advertiser spending as well as 
improvements to ad formats and delivery. Growth for our brand advertising products was primarily driven by increased spending by 
our advertisers and the adverse effect of COVID-19 on 2020 revenues.

Google Network

Ad Manager, and AdSense. The adverse effect of COVID-19 on 2020 revenues also contributed to the year-over-year increase.
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MONETIZATION METRICS

Paid clicks and cost-per-click

Year Ended December 31,

2021

Paid clicks change 23 %

Cost-per-click change 15%

Paid clicks increased from 2020 to 2021 driven by a number of interrelated factors, including an increase in search queries resulting 
from growth in user adoption and usage, primarily on mobile devices; an increase in clicks relating to ads on Google Play; growth 
in advertiser spending; and improvements we have made in ad formats and delivery. The adverse effect of COVID-19 on 2020 paid 
clicks also contributed to the increase.

The increase in cost-per-click from 2020 to 2021 was driven by a number of interrelated factors including changes in device mix, 
geographic mix, growth in advertiser spending, ongoing product changes, and property mix, as well as the adverse effect of COVID-19 
in 2020.

Impressions and cost-per-impression

Year Ended December 31,

2021

Impressions change 2 %

Cost-per-impression change 35%

Impressions increased from 2020 to 2021 primarily driven by growth in AdMob, partially offset by a decline in impressions related to 
AdSense. The increase in cost-per-impression was primarily driven by the adverse effect of COVID-19 in 2020 as well as the effect 
of interrelated factors including ongoing product and policy changes and improvements we have made in ad formats and delivery, 
changes in device mix, geographic mix, product mix, and property mix.

GOOGLE OTHER REVENUES

hardware, followed by Google Play. Growth for YouTube non-advertising was primarily due to an increase in paid subscribers. Growth 
in hardware reflects the inclusion of Fitbit revenues, as the acquisition closed in January 2021, and an increase in phone sales. Growth 
for Google Play was primarily driven by sales of apps and in-app purchases.

Google Cloud

Workspace offerings. Google Cloud’s infrastructure and platform services were the largest drivers of growth in GCP.

Revenues by Geography
The following table presents revenues by geography as a percentage of revenues, determined based on the addresses of our 

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

United States % %

EMEA 30 % 31 %

APAC 18 % 18 %

Other Americas 5 % 5 %
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For further details on revenues by geography, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Use of Constant Currency Revenues and Constant Currency Revenue Percentage Change
The effect of currency exchange rates on our business is an important factor in understanding period to period comparisons. We use 

decision-making and as a means to evaluate period-to-period comparisons. We believe the presentation of results on a constant 
currency basis in addition to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) results helps improve the ability to understand 
our performance because it excludes the effects of foreign currency volatility that are not indicative of our core operating results.

Constant currency information compares results between periods as if exchange rates had remained constant period over period. We 

and use it to determine the constant currency revenue percentage change on a year-on-year basis. Constant currency revenues 
are calculated by translating current period revenues using prior year comparable period exchange rates, as well as excluding any 
hedging effects realized in the current period.

Constant currency revenue percentage change is calculated by determining the change in current period revenues over prior year 
comparable period revenues where current period foreign currency revenues are translated using prior year comparable period 
exchange rates and hedging effects are excluded from revenues of both periods.

These results should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, results reported in accordance with GAAP. Results on a 
constant currency basis, as we present them, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies and are 
not a measure of performance presented in accordance with GAAP.

Year Ended December 31, % Change from 
Prior Year2020 2021

EMEA revenues $ $ 43%

EMEA constant currency revenues 38 %

APAC revenues 32,550 42%

APAC constant currency revenues 40%

Other Americas revenues 14,404 53%

Other Americas constant currency revenues 52%

United States revenues 85,014 39%

Hedging gains (losses) 149

Total revenues $ $ 41%

Revenues, excluding hedging effect $ 182,351 $

Exchange rate effect (3,330)

Total constant currency revenues $ 254,158 39%

EMEA revenue growth from 2020 to 2021 was favorably affected by foreign currency exchange rates, primarily due to the U.S. dollar 
weakening relative to the Euro and British pound.

APAC revenue growth from 2020 to 2021 was favorably affected by foreign currency exchange rates, primarily due to the U.S. dollar 
weakening relative to the Australian dollar, partially offset by the U.S. dollar strengthening relative to the Japanese yen.

Other Americas growth change from 2020 to 2021 was favorably affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, primarily 
due to the U.S. dollar weakening relative to the Canadian dollar, partially offset by the U.S. dollar strengthening relative to the Argentine 
peso and the Brazilian real.
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Costs and Expenses

COST OF REVENUES

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

TAC $ $

Other cost of revenues 51,954

Total cost of revenues $ $ 110,939

Total cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues % 43.1%

of $13.4 billion and $12.8 billion, respectively.

The increase in TAC from 2020 to 2021 was due to an increase in TAC paid to distribution partners and to Google Network partners, 

due to a revenue mix shift from Google Network properties to Google Search & other properties. The TAC rate on Google Search 
& other properties revenues and the TAC rate on Google Network revenues were both substantially consistent from 2020 to 2021.

The increase in other cost of revenues from 2020 to 2021 was driven by increases in content acquisition costs primarily for YouTube, 
data center and other operations costs, and hardware costs. The increase in data center and other operations costs was partially offset 
by a reduction in depreciation expense due to the change in the estimated useful life of our servers and certain network equipment 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Research and development expenses $ $

Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues 15.1% 12.3%

R&D expenses increased $4.0 billion from 2020 to 2021. The increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation expenses 

This increase was partially offset by a reduction in depreciation expense of $450 million including the effect of our change in the 
estimated useful life of our servers and certain network equipment.

SALES AND MARKETING

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Sales and marketing expenses $ $ 22,912

Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues 9.8% 8.9%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $5.0 billion from 2020 to 2021, primarily driven by an increase in advertising and promotional 
activities of $2.5 billion and an increase in compensation expenses of $2.2 billion. The increase in advertising and promotional activities 
was driven by both increased spending in the current period and a reduction in spending in 2020 due to COVID-19. The increase in 
compensation expenses was largely due to a 14% increase in headcount.
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

General and administrative expenses $ 11,052 $ 13,510

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues % 5.2%

increase in headcount. These increases were partially offset by a reduction in expense of $808 million related to a decline in allowance 
for credit losses for accounts receivable, as 2020 reflected a higher allowance related to the economic effect of COVID-19.

SEGMENT PROFITABILITY

The following table presents segment operating income (loss) (in millions).

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Google Services $ $ 91,855

Google Cloud ) (3,099)

Other Bets ) (5,281)

Corporate costs, unallocated(1) (3,299) )

Total income from operations $ 41,224 $
(1) Unallocated corporate costs primarily include corporate initiatives, corporate shared costs, such as finance and legal, including certain fines and 

settlements, as well as costs associated with certain shared R&D activities. Additionally, hedging gains (losses) related to revenue are included in corporate 
costs.

GOOGLE SERVICES

offset by increases in TAC, content acquisition costs, compensation expenses, advertising and promotional expenses, and charges 
related to certain legal matters. The increase in expenses was partially offset by a reduction in costs driven by the change in the 
estimated useful life of our servers and certain network equipment. The effect of COVID-19 on 2020 results affected the year-over-
year increase in operating income.

GOOGLE CLOUD

Google Cloud operating loss decreased $2.5 billion from 2020 to 2021. The decrease in operating loss was primarily driven by growth 
in revenues, partially offset by an increase in expenses, primarily driven by compensation expenses. The increase in expenses was 
partially offset by a reduction in costs driven by the change in the estimated useful life of our servers and certain network equipment.

OTHER BETS

Other Bets operating loss increased $805 million from 2020 to 2021. The increase in operating loss was primarily driven by increases 
in compensation expenses, including an increase in valuation-based compensation charges during the second quarter of 2021.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Other income (expense), net $ $ 12,020

Other income (expense), net, increased $5.2 billion from 2020 to 2021. The increase was primarily driven by increases in net unrealized 

performance fees related to certain investments of $1.3 billion.



34 ALPHABET INC. ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART II
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further 
information.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Provision for income taxes $ $

Effective tax rate % %

The provision for income taxes increased from 2020 to 2021, primarily due to an increase in pre-tax earnings, including in countries 

2021. See Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
further information.

Financial Condition

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities

and marketable securities are comprised of time deposits, money market funds, highly liquid government bonds, corporate debt 
securities, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, and marketable equity securities.

Sources, Uses of Cash and Related Trends
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, as well as the cash flow that we generate 
from operations. The primary use of capital continues to be to invest for the long-term growth of the business. We regularly evaluate 
our cash and capital structure, including the size, pace and form of capital return to stockholders.

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Net cash provided by operating activities $ $

Net cash used in investing activities $ ) $ (35,523)

$ (24,408) $ )

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Our largest source of cash provided by operations are advertising revenues generated by Google Search & other properties, Google 
Network properties, and YouTube ads. Additionally, we generate cash through sales of apps and in-app purchases, digital content 
products, and hardware; and licensing and service fees including fees received for Google Cloud offerings and subscription-based 
products.

Our primary uses of cash from operating activities include payments to distribution and Google Network partners, for compensation 
and related costs, and for content acquisition costs. In addition, uses of cash from operating activities include hardware inventory 
costs, income taxes, and other general corporate expenditures.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased from 2020 to 2021 primarily due to the net effect of an increase in cash received 
from revenues and cash paid for cost of revenues and operating expenses, and changes in operating assets and liabilities.
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CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash provided by investing activities consists primarily of maturities and sales of our investments in marketable and non-marketable 
securities. Cash used in investing activities consists primarily of purchases of marketable and non-marketable securities, purchases 
of property and equipment, and payments for acquisitions.

Net cash used in investing activities increased from 2020 to 2021 primarily due to a decrease in maturities and sales of marketable 
securities, an increase in purchases of property and equipment, offset by a decrease in purchases of non-marketable securities.

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

related to stock-based award activities, and repayments of debt.

payments for repurchases of common and capital stock.

Liquidity and Material Cash Requirements

next 12 months and thereafter for the foreseeable future.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND LEASES

property and equipment and lease arrangements to provide capacity for the growth of our services and products. 

Capital Expenditures

 technical infrastructure, which consists of our investments in servers and network equipment for computing, storage and networking 
requirements for ongoing business activities, including machine learning (collectively referred to as our information technology 
assets) and data center land and building construction; and

 

for our intended use. The time frame from date of purchase to placement in service of these assets may extend from months to 

Depreciation of our property and equipment commences when the deployment of such assets are completed and are ready for our 
intended use. Land is not depreciated. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, our depreciation and impairment expenses 

Leases
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, we recognized total operating lease assets of $2.8 billion and $3.0 billion, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the amount of total future lease payments under operating leases, which had a weighted 
average remaining lease term of 8 years, was $15.5 billion, of which $2.5 billion is short-term. As of December 31, 2021, we have 

excluding purchase options, that are not yet recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These leases will commence between 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, our operating lease expenses (including variable lease costs) were $2.9 billion and 
$3.4 billion, respectively. Finance lease costs were not material for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021. See Note 4 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information on leases.

FINANCING

we had no commercial paper outstanding. 
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the existing revolving credit facilities, which were scheduled to expire in July 2023, and entered into two new revolving credit facilities 

new credit facilities are determined based on a formula using certain market rates, as well as our progress toward the achievement 
of certain sustainability goals. No amounts have been borrowed under the new credit facilities.

Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information on our debt.

SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

In April 2021, the Board of Directors of Alphabet authorized the company to repurchase up to $50.0 billion of its Class C stock. In 
July 2021, the Alphabet board approved an amendment to the April 2021 authorization, permitting the company to repurchase 
both Class A and Class C shares in a manner deemed in the best interest of the company and its stockholders, taking into account 
the economic cost and prevailing market conditions, including the relative trading prices and volumes of the Class A and Class C 
shares. In accordance with the authorizations of the Board of Directors of Alphabet, during 2021 we repurchased and subsequently 
retired 20.3 million aggregate shares for $50.3 billion. Of the aggregate amount repurchased and subsequently retired, 1.2 million 

general business and market conditions and other investment opportunities, through open market purchases or privately negotiated 
transactions, including through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The repurchase program does not have an expiration date. See Note 11 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION FINES

TAXES

one-time transition tax payable incurred as a result of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”). As permitted by the Tax Act, we will 
pay the transition tax in annual interest-free installments through 2025. We also have taxes payable of $3.5 billion primarily related 

PURCHASE COMMITMENTS 

which $11.9 billion is short-term. These amounts represent the non-cancelable portion of agreements or the minimum cancellation 
fee. For those agreements with variable terms, we do not estimate the non-cancelable obligation beyond any minimum quantities 

Critical Accounting Estimates

operations. Accordingly, actual results could differ materially from our estimates. We base our estimates on past experience and 
other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. 
We have reviewed our critical accounting estimates with the audit and compliance committee of our Board of Directors.

See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a summary 

Fair Value Measurements of Non-Marketable Equity Securities

securities. These investments are accounted for under the measurement alternative and are measured at cost, less impairment, 
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and liquidity position and access to capital resources, among others. When indicators of impairment exist, we prepare quantitative 

the use of unobservable inputs, including discount rates, investee revenues and costs, and comparable market data of private and public 
companies, among others. When our assessment indicates that an impairment exists, we write down the investment to its fair value.

We also have compensation arrangements with payouts based on realized returns from certain investments, i.e. performance fees. 
We recognize compensation expense based on the estimated payouts, which may result in expense recognized before investment 
returns are realized, and may require the use of unobservable inputs.

Property and Equipment
We assess the reasonableness of the useful lives of our property and equipment periodically as well as when other changes occur, 
such as when there are changes to ongoing business operations, changes in the planned use and utilization of assets, or technological 

Income Taxes

positions and determining our provision for income taxes.

Recording an uncertain tax position involves various qualitative considerations, including evaluation of comparable and resolved 
tax exposures, applicability of tax laws, and likelihood of settlement. We evaluate uncertain tax positions periodically, considering 

taxing authorities. Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, no assurance can be given that 

the amounts recorded, such differences will affect the provision for income taxes and the effective tax rate in the period in which 
such determination is made.

The provision for income taxes includes the effect of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate 

by the Internal Revenue Services (IRS) and other tax authorities which may assert assessments against us. We regularly assess the 
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations and assessments to determine the adequacy of our provision 
for income taxes.

Loss Contingencies

intellectual property, privacy, tax and related compliance, labor and employment, commercial disputes, content generated by our 

matters. Certain of these matters include speculative claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts of damages. We record a liability 
when we believe that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that 
a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be estimated, we disclose the possible loss in Note 10 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

We evaluate, on a regular basis, developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that has been previously 

amounts could be material. 

Change in Accounting Estimate
In January 2021, we completed an assessment of the useful lives of our servers and certain network equipment. In doing so, we 

is detailed further in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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 —  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
We transact business globally in multiple currencies. International revenues, as well as costs and expenses denominated in foreign 
currencies, expose us to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar. Principal currencies hedged 

exchange risk, we considered the historical trends in foreign currency exchange rates and determined that it was reasonably possible 
that adverse changes in exchange rates of 10% could be experienced in the near term.

We use foreign exchange forward contracts to offset the foreign exchange risk on assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency of the subsidiary. These forward contracts reduce, but do not entirely eliminate, the effect of foreign 
currency exchange rate movements on our assets and liabilities. The foreign currency gains and losses on these assets and liabilities 
are recorded in other income (expense), net, which are offset by the gains and losses on the forward contracts.

If an adverse 10% foreign currency exchange rate change was applied to total monetary assets, liabilities, and commitments 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies at the balance sheet date, it would have resulted in an adverse effect 

We use foreign currency forwards and option contracts, including collars (an option strategy comprised of a combination of purchased 
and written options) to protect forecasted U.S. dollar-equivalent earnings from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. When 
the U.S. dollar strengthens, gains from foreign currency options and forwards reduce the foreign currency losses related to our 

our earnings. These hedging contracts reduce, but do not entirely eliminate, the effect of foreign currency exchange rate movements. 
We designate these contracts as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. We reflect the gains or losses of foreign currency spot 
rate changes as a component of AOCI and subsequently reclassify them into revenues to offset the hedged exposures as they occur. 

respectively. The change in the value recorded in AOCI would be expected to offset a corresponding foreign currency change in 
forecasted hedged revenues when recognized.

We use foreign exchange forward contracts designated as net investment hedges to hedge the foreign currency risks related to 
investment in foreign subsidiaries. These forward contracts serve to offset the foreign currency translation risk from our foreign 
operations.

recorded in CTA would be expected to offset a corresponding foreign currency translation gain or loss from our investment in foreign 
subsidiaries.

Interest Rate Risk
Our Corporate Treasury investment strategy is to achieve a return that will allow us to preserve capital and maintain liquidity. We 
invest primarily in debt securities, including those of the U.S. government and its agencies, corporate debt securities, mortgage-
backed securities, money market and other funds, municipal securities, time deposits, asset backed securities, and debt instruments 

and floating rate interest earning securities carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value 
adversely affected due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than predicted if interest 
rates fall. Unrealized gains or losses on our marketable debt securities are primarily due to interest rate fluctuations as compared 

which changes in fair value are recorded in other income (expense), net. We measure securities for which we have not elected the 
fair value option at fair value with gains and losses recorded in AOCI until the securities are sold, less any expected credit losses. 



39ALPHABET INC. ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART II
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We use value-at-risk (VaR) analysis to determine the potential effect of fluctuations in interest rates on the value of our marketable 

As of December 31,
12-Month Average

As of December 31,

2020 2021 2020 2021

Risk Category - Interest Rate $ 144 $ 139 $ 145 $ 148 

Actual future gains and losses associated with our marketable debt security portfolio may differ materially from the sensitivity 

amount of changes in interest rates and our actual exposures and positions. VaR analysis is not intended to represent actual losses 
but is used as a risk estimation.

Equity Investment Risk

reduce or increase the fair value of our holdings.

Our marketable equity securities are publicly traded stocks or funds and our non-marketable equity securities are investments in 
privately held companies, some of which are in the startup or development stages.

We record marketable equity securities not accounted for under the equity method at fair value based on readily determinable 

equity securities.

for identical or similar investments of the same issuer or impairment (referred to as the measurement alternative). The fair value 
measured at the time of the observable transaction is not necessarily an indication of the current fair value as of the balance sheet 
date. These investments, especially those that are in the early stages, are inherently risky because the technologies or products 
these companies have under development are typically in the early phases and may never materialize, and they may experience a 

of our investment in any private company is also typically dependent on the likelihood of our ability to realize appreciation in the 
value of investments through liquidity events such as public offerings, acquisitions, private sales or other market events. As of 

non-marketable equity securities may not directly correlate with changes in valuation of marketable equity securities. Additionally, 

the effect.

2020 and 2021, respectively, generally do not fluctuate based on market price changes. However, these investments could be impaired 
if the carrying value exceeds the fair value and is not expected to recover.

For further information about our equity investments, see Note 1 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Alphabet Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Alphabet Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 
2021, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the 

operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), 

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and 

Basis for Opinion

to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 

Critical Audit Matter

communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are 

are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts 
or disclosures to which it relates. 
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LOSS CONTINGENCIES

Description 

commercial disputes, content generated by its users, goods and services offered by advertisers or publishers 

and other proceedings could result in adverse consequences.

such matters. Auditing management’s accounting for and disclosure of loss contingencies from these matters 

a loss, and the estimated amount or range of loss.

How We Addressed 
of these matters. This included controls over management’s assessment of the probability of incurrence of a loss 
and whether the loss or range of loss was reasonably estimable and the development of related disclosures.

Our audit procedures included gaining an understanding of previous rulings issued by regulators and the status of 

internal legal counsel to discuss the allegations, and obtaining a representation letter from management on these 
matters. We also evaluated the Company’s disclosures in relation to these matters.

/s Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1999.

San Jose, California
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Alphabet Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

framework), (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Alphabet Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), 

thereon.

Basis for Opinion

the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 

in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
February 1, 2022



44 ALPHABET INC. ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART II
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Alphabet Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,

(In millions, except share amounts which are reflected in thousands, and par value per share amounts) 2020 2021

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,465 $ 20,945
110,229 118,704

Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities 136,694 139,649
Accounts receivable, net 30,930 39,304

454 966
Inventory 728 1,170
Other current assets 5,490 7,054

Total current assets 174,296 188,143
20,703 29,549

1,084 1,284
Property and equipment, net 84,749 97,599
Operating lease assets 12,211 12,959
Intangible assets, net 1,445 1,417
Goodwill 21,175 22,956

3,953 5,361
Total assets $ 319,616 $ 359,268

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 5,589 $ 6,037
11,086 13,889
28,631 31,236

Accrued revenue share 7,500 8,996
Deferred revenue 2,543 3,288

1,485 808
Total current liabilities 56,834 64,254

13,932 14,817
481 535

8,849 9,176
3,561 5,257

Operating lease liabilities 11,146 11,389
2,269 2,205

Total liabilities 97,072 107,633

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, 100,000 shares authorized; no shares 
issued and outstanding

0 0

par value per share: 15,000,000 shares authorized (Class A 9,000,000, Class B 3,000,000, Class C 
3,000,000); 675,222 (Class A 300,730, Class B 45,843, Class C 328,649) and 662,121 (Class A 300,737, 
Class B 44,665, Class C 316,719) shares issued and outstanding

58,510 61,774

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 633 (1,623)
163,401 191,484

Total stockholders’ equity 222,544 251,635
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 319,616 $ 359,268

See accompanying notes.
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Alphabet Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

$ 161,857 $ 182,527 $ 257,637

Cost of revenues 71,896 84,732 110,939

26,018 27,573 31,562

Sales and marketing 18,464 17,946 22,912

General and administrative 9,551 11,052 13,510

1,697 0 0

127,626 141,303 178,923

Income from operations 34,231 41,224 78,714

5,394 6,858 12,020

39,625 48,082 90,734

5,282 7,813 14,701

$ 34,343 $ 40,269 $ 76,033

Basic net income per share of Class A and B common stock and Class C capital stock $ 49.59 $ 59.15 $ 113.88

Diluted net income per share of Class A and B common stock and Class C capital stock $ 49.16 $ 58.61 $ 112.20

See accompanying notes.
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Alphabet Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions) 2019 2020 2021

$ 34,343 $ 40,269 $ 76,033

Other comprehensive income (loss):

(119) 1,139 (1,442)

Change in net unrealized gains (losses) 1,611 1,313 (1,312)

(111) (513) (64)

1,500 800 (1,376)

Cash flow hedges:

Change in net unrealized gains (losses) 22 42 716

(299) (116) (154)

(277) (74) 562

Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,104 1,865 (2,256)

Comprehensive income $ 35,447 $ 42,134 $ 73,777

See accompanying notes.
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Alphabet Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions, except share amounts 
which are reflected in thousands)

Common Stock, Class C 
Capital Stock and Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income (Loss)
Retained
Earnings

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2018 695,556 $ 45,049 $ (2,306) $ 134,885 $ 177,628

Cumulative effect of accounting change 0 0 (30) (4) (34)

Common and capital stock issued 8,120 202 0 0 202

0 10,890 0 0 10,890

restricted stock units and other 0 (4,455) 0 0 (4,455)

(15,341) (1,294) 0 (17,102) (18,396)

Sale of interest in consolidated entities 0 160 0 0 160

0 0 0 34,343 34,343

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 1,104 0 1,104

Balance as of December 31, 2019 688,335 50,552 (1,232) 152,122 201,442

Common and capital stock issued 8,398 168 0 0 168

0 13,123 0 0 13,123

restricted stock units and other 0 (5,969) 0 0 (5,969)

(21,511) (2,159) 0 (28,990) (31,149)

Sale of interest in consolidated entities 0 2,795 0 0 2,795

0 0 0 40,269 40,269

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 1,865 0 1,865

Balance as of December 31, 2020 675,222 58,510 633 163,401 222,544

Common and capital stock issued 7,225 12 0 0 12

0 15,539 0 0 15,539

restricted stock units and other 0 (10,273) 0 0 (10,273)

(20,326) (2,324) 0 (47,950) (50,274)

Sale of interest in consolidated entities 0 310 0 0 310

0 0 0 76,033 76,033

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 (2,256) 0 (2,256)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 662,121 $ 61,774 $ (1,623) $ 191,484 $ 251,635

See accompanying notes.



ALPHABET INC. ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART II
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Alphabet Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions) 2019 2020 2021
Operating activities

$ 34,343 $ 40,269 $ 76,033

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment 10,856 12,905 11,555
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 925 792 886

10,794 12,991 15,376
173 1,390 1,808

Gain on debt and equity securities, net (2,798) (6,317) (12,270)
Other (592) 1,267 (213)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (4,340) (6,524) (9,095)

(3,128) 1,209 (625)
Other assets (621) (1,330) (1,846)
Accounts payable 428 694 283

7,170 5,504 7,304
Accrued revenue share 1,273 1,639 1,682
Deferred revenue 37 635 774

54,520 65,124 91,652
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (23,548) (22,281) (24,640)
Purchases of marketable securities (100,315) (136,576) (135,196)

97,825 132,906 128,294
(1,932) (7,175) (2,838)

405 1,023 934
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and purchases of intangible assets (2,515) (738) (2,618)
Other investing activities 589 68 541

(29,491) (32,773) (35,523)
Financing activities

(4,765) (5,720) (10,162)
(18,396) (31,149) (50,274)

Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of costs 317 11,761 20,199
(585) (2,100) (21,435)

Proceeds from sale of interest in consolidated entities, net 220 2,800 310
(23,209) (24,408) (61,362)

(23) 24 (287)
1,797 7,967 (5,520)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 16,701 18,498 26,465
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 18,498 $ 26,465 $ 20,945
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

$ 8,203 $ 4,990 $ 13,412

See accompanying notes.
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 — Alphabet Inc.

Note 1.

Basis of Consolidation

interest and voting models. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates

on assumptions, both historical and forward looking, that are believed to be reasonable, and the results of which form the basis for 

useful life of our servers from three years to four years and the estimated useful life of certain network equipment from three years 

and certain network equipment as of December 31, 2020 and those acquired during the year ended December 31, 2021, the effect 

$3.02 per basic share and $2.98 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Revenue Recognition

ADVERTISING REVENUES

We generate advertising revenues primarily by delivering advertising on:

 

and Google Play;
 YouTube properties; and
 

among others.

We offer advertising by delivering both performance and brand advertising. We recognize revenues for performance advertising 
when a user engages with the advertisement, such as a click, a view, or a purchase. For brand advertising, we recognize revenues 
when the ad is displayed, or a user views the ad.

are recorded as cost of revenues. Where we are the principal, we control the advertising inventory before it is transferred to our 
customers. Our control is evidenced by our sole ability to monetize the advertising inventory before it is transferred to our customers 
and is further supported by us being primarily responsible to our customers and having a level of discretion in establishing pricing.
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GOOGLE CLOUD REVENUES

Google Cloud revenues consist of revenues from:

 Google Cloud Platform, which includes fees for infrastructure, platform, and other services;
 

 other enterprise services.

Our cloud services are generally provided on either a consumption or subscription basis and may have contract terms longer than a 

GOOGLE OTHER REVENUES 

Google other revenues consist of revenues from:

 

 

 

 other products and services.

performance obligation is to facilitate a transaction between app developers and end users, for which we earn a service fee. 

ARRANGEMENTS WITH MULTIPLE PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Our contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, we allocate revenues to each 
performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. We generally determine standalone selling prices based on the 

CUSTOMER INCENTIVES AND CREDITS

changes to our estimates of variable consideration.

SALES COMMISSIONS

Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues consists of TAC and other costs of revenues.

 TAC includes: 
 Amounts paid to our distribution partners who make available our search access points and services. Our distribution partners 

include browser providers, mobile carriers, original equipment manufacturers, and software developers.
 

 Other cost of revenues includes:
 Content acquisition costs, which are payments to content providers from whom we license video and other content for 

distribution on YouTube and Google Play (we pay fees to these content providers based on revenues generated or a flat fee).
 

equipment costs) as well as other operations costs (such as content review as well as customer and product support costs).
 Inventory and other costs related to the hardware we sell.
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Software Development Costs

shortly before the release of such products. As a result, development costs that meet the criteria for capitalization were not material 
for the periods presented.

Software development costs also include costs to develop software to be used solely to meet internal needs and cloud based 
applications used to deliver our services. We capitalize development costs related to these software applications once the preliminary 

intended. Costs capitalized for developing such software applications were not material for the periods presented.

Stock-based Compensation

over the requisite service period and account for forfeitures as they occur.

market conditions and awards that may be settled in cash or the stock of certain Other Bets. PSUs and certain Other Bet awards are equity 

at fair value through settlement. The fair value of Other Bet awards is based on the equity valuation of the respective Other Bet.

Advertising and Promotional Expenses

Performance Fees
Performance fees refer to compensation arrangements with payouts based on realized returns from certain investments. We recognize 

Fair Value Measurements 

that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are measured and 

to measure fair value:

when measuring fair value. 

disclosed, if required.
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certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, also at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The determination of fair 
value involves the use of appropriate valuation methods and relevant inputs into valuation models.

Financial Instruments

and accounts receivable. 

CREDIT RISKS

institutions with high credit standing. Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from 

CASH EQUIVALENTS

time deposits, and money market funds.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

We classify all marketable debt securities that have stated maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase as cash 
equivalents and those with stated maturities of greater than three months as marketable securities on our Consolidated Balance 

securities prior to their stated maturities. As we view these securities as available to support current operations, we classify highly 
liquid securities with maturities beyond 12 months as current assets under the caption marketable securities on the Consolidated 

net. For certain marketable debt securities we have elected the fair value option, for which changes in fair value are recorded in other 

Our investments in marketable equity securities are measured at fair value with the related gains and losses, including unrealized, 

NON-MARKETABLE SECURITIES

accounted for under the measurement alternative. Under the measurement alternative, the carrying value is measured at cost, 
less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar 

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Our payment terms for accounts receivable vary by the types and locations of our customers and the products or services offered. 

payment before the products or services are delivered to the customer. 

We maintain an allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable, which is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable, and changes 

The allowance for credit losses on accounts receivable was $789 million and $550 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, 
respectively.

OTHER

for as separate transactions under the applicable GAAP. 

IMPAIRMENT OF INVESTMENTS

available information relevant to the collectibility of the security and information about past events, current conditions, and reasonable 

unrealized loss. Unrealized losses other than the credit loss are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI). If 
we have an intent to sell, or if it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell a debt security in an unrealized loss position 
before recovery of its amortized cost basis, we will write down the security to its fair value and record the corresponding charge as 

indicates that the investment is impaired, we write down the investment to its fair value by recording the corresponding charge as a 

a market approach or an income approach.

Inventory

Variable Interest Entities
We determine at the inception of each arrangement whether an entity in which we have made an investment or in which we have 

account for the investment or other variable interests in a VIE in accordance with applicable GAAP.

Periodically, we assess whether any changes in our interest or relationship with the entity affect our determination of whether the 

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment includes the following categories: land and buildings, information technology assets, construction in progress, 

improvements. Information technology assets include servers and network equipment. We account for property and equipment at 
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assets, which we regularly evaluate. We depreciate buildings over periods of seven to 25 years. We depreciate information technology 

We depreciate leasehold improvements over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
Construction in progress is the construction or development of property and equipment that have not yet been placed in service 
for our intended use. Depreciation for equipment, buildings, and leasehold improvements commences once they are ready for our 
intended use. Land is not depreciated.

Leases

lease component which increases the amount of our lease assets and liabilities.

for power purchase arrangements, and payments for maintenance and utilities.

Lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the present value of the future lease payments at the lease commencement date. The 
interest rate used to determine the present value of the future lease payments is our incremental borrowing rate, because the interest 

a collateralized basis with similar terms and payments, and in economic environments where the leased asset is located. Our lease 

any prepaid lease payments and lease incentives.

Operating lease assets and liabilities are included on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. The current portion of our operating lease 

Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

independent of other assets. We measure recoverability of these assets by comparing the carrying amounts to the future undiscounted 

were not material for the periods presented.

units periodically, as well as when changes in our operating segments occur. For changes in reporting units, we reassign goodwill 
using a relative fair value allocation approach. We test our goodwill for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. Goodwill impairments were not material for the periods presented.

ranging from one to twelve years.

Income Taxes
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Business Combinations
We include the results of operations of the businesses that we acquire as of the acquisition date. We allocate the purchase price 

Foreign Currency

gains and losses resulting from the conversion of the transaction currency to functional currency as a component of foreign currency 

Prior Period Reclassifications
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Note 2. Revenues

Revenue Recognition
The following table presents revenues disaggregated by type (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

Google Search & other $ 98,115 $ 104,062 $ 148,951

YouTube ads 15,149 19,772 28,845

21,547 23,090 31,701

Google advertising 134,811 146,924 209,497

Google other 17,014 21,711 28,032

Google Services total 151,825 168,635 237,529

Google Cloud 8,918 13,059 19,206

Other Bets 659 657 753

Hedging gains (losses) 455 176 149

Total revenues $ 161,857 $ 182,527 $ 257,637

The following table presents revenues disaggregated by geography, based on the addresses of our customers (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

United States $ 74,843 46 $ 85,014 47 $ 117,854 46
(1) 50,645 31 55,370 30 79,107 31

APAC(1) 26,928 17 32,550 18 46,123 18

Other Americas(1) 8,986 6 9,417 5 14,404 5

Hedging gains (losses) 455 0 176 0 149 0

Total revenues $ 161,857 100 $ 182,527 100 $ 257,637 100

(1) Regions represent Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (EMEA); Asia-Pacific (APAC); and Canada and Latin America (“Other Americas”).

Revenue Backlog and Deferred Revenues

Our revenue backlog represents commitments in customer contracts for future services that have not yet been recognized as revenues. 
The amount and timing of revenue recognition for these commitments is largely driven by when our customers utilize services and 
our ability to deliver in accordance with relevant contract terms, which could affect our estimate of revenue backlog and when we 

We record deferred revenues when cash payments are received or due in advance of our performance, including amounts which are 
refundable. Deferred revenues primarily relate to Google Cloud and Google other. Total deferred revenue as of December 31, 2020 
was $3.0 billion, of which $2.3 billion was recognized as revenues for the year ending December 31, 2021.
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Note 3. Financial Instruments

Debt Securities

inputs to determine fair value.

For certain marketable debt securities, we have elected the fair value option for which changes in fair value are recorded in other 

related derivative contracts. Unrealized net gains (losses) related to debt securities still held where we have elected the fair value 
option were $87 million and $(35) million as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2020 
and December 31, 2021, the fair value of these debt securities was $2.0 billion and $4.7 billion, respectively. 

as of December 31, 2020 and 2021 (in millions):

As of December 31, 2020

Adjusted
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized  

Losses
Fair 

Value

Cash and
Cash

Equivalents
Marketable 

Securities

Level 2:

Time deposits(1) $ 3,564 $ 0 $ 0 $ 3,564 $ 3,564 $ 0

Government bonds 55,156 793 (9) 55,940 2,527 53,413

Corporate debt securities 31,521 704 (2) 32,223 8 32,215

16,767 364 (7) 17,124 0 17,124

Total $ 107,008 $ 1,861 $ (18) $ 108,851 $ 6,099 $ 102,752

As of December 31, 2021

Adjusted
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized  

Losses
Fair 

Value

Cash and
Cash

Equivalents
Marketable 

Securities

Level 2:

Time deposits(1) $ 5,133 $ 0 $ 0 $ 5,133 $ 5,133 $ 0

Government bonds 53,288 258 (238) 53,308 5 53,303

Corporate debt securities 35,605 194 (223) 35,576 12 35,564

18,829 96 (112) 18,813 0 18,813

Total $ 112,855 $ 548 $ (573) $ 112,830 $ 5,150 $ 107,680

(1) The majority of our time deposits are domestic deposits.

recognized gross realized gains of $292 million, $899 million, and $432 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, 
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of investments in marketable debt securities by stated contractual maturity 
dates (in millions):

As of 
December 31, 2021

Due in 1 year or less $ 16,192

Due in 1 year through 5 years 78,625

Due in 5 years through 10 years 4,675

Due after 10 years 12,864

Total $ 112,356 

The following tables present fair values and gross unrealized losses recorded to AOCI as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, aggregated 
by investment category and the length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position (in millions):

As of December 31, 2020

12 Months or Greater Total

Unrealized
Loss

Unrealized
Loss

Unrealized 
Loss

Government bonds $ 5,516 $ (9) $ 3 $ 0 $ 5,519 $ (9)

Corporate debt securities 1,999 (1) 0 0 1,999 (1 )

securities 929 (5 ) 242 (2 ) 1,171 (7 )

Total $ 8,444 $ (15) $ 245 $ (2) $ 8,689 $ (17)

As of December 31, 2021

12 Months or Greater Total

Unrealized
Loss

Unrealized
Loss

Unrealized 
Loss

Government bonds $ 32,843 $ (236) $ 71 $ (2) $ 32,914 $ (238)

Corporate debt securities 22,737 (152) 303 (5 ) 23,040 (157)

securities 11,502 (106) 248 (6) 11,750 (112)

Total $ 67,082 $ (494) $ 622 $ (13) $ 67,704 $ (507)

Equity Investments

fair value hierarchy because we use quoted prices for identical assets in active markets or inputs that are based upon quoted prices 
for similar instruments in active markets.

hierarchy because we estimate the value based on valuation methods which may include a combination of the observable transaction 
price at the transaction date and other unobservable inputs including volatility, rights, and obligations of the securities we hold. The 
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GAINS AND LOSSES ON MARKETABLE AND NON-MARKETABLE EQUITY SECURITIES

below (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

$ 1,339 $ 1,196

Unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities held as of the end of the period 4,253 11,184

$ 5,592 $ 12,380

In the table above, net gain (loss) on equity securities sold during the period reflects the difference between the sale proceeds and 
the carrying value of the equity securities at the beginning of the period or the purchase date, if later. 

Cumulative net gains (losses) on equity securities sold during the period, which is summarized in the following table (in millions), 
represents the total net gains (losses) recognized after the initial purchase date of the equity security. While these net gains may 
have been reflected in periods prior to the period of sale, we believe they are important supplemental information as they reflect 
the economic net gains recognized on the securities sold during the period. Cumulative net gains are calculated as the difference 
between the sale price and the initial purchase price for the equity security sold during the period.

Equity Securities Sold During the Year 
Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Total sale price $ 4,767 $ 5,604

Total initial cost 2,674 1,206

Cumulative net gains(1) $ 2,093 $ 4,398
(1) Cumulative net gains excludes cumulative losses of $738 million resulting from our equity derivatives, which hedged the changes in fair value of certain marketable 

equity securities sold during the year ended December 31, 2021. The associated derivative liabilities arising from these losses were settled against our holdings of 
the underlying equity securities. 

CARRYING VALUE OF MARKETABLE AND NON-MARKETABLE EQUITY SECURITIES

The carrying value is measured as the total initial cost plus the cumulative net gain (loss). The carrying values for marketable and 

As of December 31, 2020

Marketable 
Equity Securities Equity Securities Total

Total initial cost $ 2,227 $ 14,616 $ 16,843 

Cumulative net gain (loss)(1) 3,631 4,277 7,908 

Carrying value(2) $ 5,858 $ 18,893 $ 24,751 

(1) Non-marketable equity securities cumulative net gain (loss) is comprised of $6.1 billion gains and $1.9 billion losses (including impairment).
(2) The long-term portion of marketable equity securities (subject to long-term lock-up restrictions) of $429 million is included within other non-current assets.

As of December 31, 2021

Marketable 
Equity Securities Equity Securities Total

Total initial cost $ 4,211 $ 15,135 $ 19,346

Cumulative net gain (loss)(1) 3,587 12,436 16,023

Carrying value(2) $ 7,798 $ 27,571 $ 35,369

(1) Non-marketable equity securities cumulative net gain (loss) is comprised of $14.1 billion gains and $1.7 billion losses (including impairment).
(2) The long-term portion of marketable equity securities (subject to long-term lock-up restrictions) of $1.4 billion is included within other non-current assets.
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MARKETABLE EQUITY SECURITIES

December 31, 2020 and 2021 (in millions):

As of December 31, 2020 As of December 31, 2021

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

Marketable 
Equity Securities

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

Marketable 
Equity Securities

Level 1:

$ 12,210 $ 0 $ 7,499 $ 0
(1)(2) 0 5,470 0 7,447

12,210 5,470 7,499 7,447

Level 2:

0 388 0 351

Total $ 12,210 $ 5,858 $ 7,499 $ 7,798

(1) The balance as of December 31, 2020 and 2021 includes investments that were reclassified from non-marketable equity securities following the 
commencement of public market trading of the issuers or acquisition by public entities (certain investments are subject to short-term lock-up restrictions). 

(2) As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, the long-term portion of marketable equity securities (subject to long-term lock-up restrictions) of $429 million and 
$1.4 billion, respectively, is included within other non-current assets. 

NON-MARKETABLE EQUITY SECURITIES

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

$ 3,020 $ 9,971

(1,489) (122)

$ 1,531 $ 9,849

period, $18.6 billion were measured at fair value resulting in a net unrealized gain of $9.8 billion.

EQUITY SECURITIES ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD

$1.4 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively. Our share of gains and losses, including impairments, are included as a component of other 

Derivative Financial Instruments
We enter into derivative instruments to manage risks relating to our ongoing business operations. The primary risk managed with 

We recognize derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value and classify the 
derivatives primarily within Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. We present our collar contracts (an option strategy comprised of a 
combination of purchased and written options) at net fair values where both the purchased and written options are with the same 
counterparty. For other derivative contracts, we present at gross fair values. We primarily record changes in the fair value in the 

AOCI, as discussed below.

We enter into master netting arrangements, which reduce credit risk by permitting net settlement of transactions with the same 
counterparty. Further, we enter into collateral security arrangements that provide for collateral to be received or pledged when the 

derivative instruments under our collateral security arrangements are included in other current assets with a corresponding liability. 

other current assets.
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CASH FLOW HEDGES

We designate foreign currency forward and option contracts (including collars) as cash flow hedges to hedge certain forecasted 
revenue transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. These contracts have maturities of 24 months or less.

amount amortized to revenues is recorded in AOCI. If the hedged transactions become probable of not occurring, the corresponding 

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

We designate foreign currency forward contracts as fair value hedges to hedge foreign currency risks for our investments denominated 
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Fair value hedge amounts included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness are recognized 

NET INVESTMENT HEDGES

We designate foreign currency forward contracts as net investment hedges to hedge the foreign currency risks related to our 

OTHER DERIVATIVES

Other derivatives not designated as hedging instruments consist primarily of foreign currency forward contracts that we use to hedge 
intercompany transactions and other monetary assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of 

with the foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities. 

We also use derivatives not designated as hedging instruments to manage risks relating to interest rates, commodity prices, credit 

The gross notional amounts of outstanding derivative instruments were as follows (in millions):

As of December 31,

2020 2021

Cash flow hedges $ 10,187 $ 16,362

Fair value hedges $ 1,569 $ 2,556

$ 9,965 $ 10,159

$ 39,861 $ 41,031

Other contracts $ 2,399 $ 4,275
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The fair values of outstanding derivative instruments were as follows (in millions):

As of December 31, 2020

 
Derivatives  

 

 
 

Designated as   
Value

Derivative Assets:
Level 2:

$ 33 $ 316 $ 349
Other contracts 0 16 16

Total $ 33 $ 332 $ 365
Derivative Liabilities:
Level 2:

$ 395 $ 185 $ 580 
Other contracts

0 942 942
Total $ 395 $ 1,127 $ 1,522 

Balance Sheet Location

As of December 31, 2021

Fair Value of  
Derivatives  

Designated as  
Hedging Instruments

Fair Value of  
Derivatives Not  
Designated as  

Hedging Instruments
Total Fair  

Value

Derivative Assets:
Level 2:

$ 867 $ 42 $ 909
Other contracts 0 52 52

Total $ 867 $ 94 $ 961
Derivative Liabilities: 
Level 2:

$ 8 $ 452 $ 460
Other contracts

0 121 121
Total $ 8 $ 573 $ 581

The gains (losses) on derivatives in cash flow hedging and net investment hedging relationships recognized in other comprehensive 
income (OCI) were summarized below (in millions):

Gains (Losses) Recognized in OCI
on Derivatives Before Tax Effect

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

Amount included in the assessment of effectiveness $ 38 $ 102 $ 806
(14) (37) 48

Amount included in the assessment of effectiveness 131 (851) 754
Total $ 155 $ (786) $ 1,608
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The effect of derivative instruments on income was summarized below (in millions):

Gains (Losses) Recognized in Income

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

Revenues

Other 
income 

(expense), 
net Revenues

Other 
income 

(expense), 
net Revenues

Other 
income 

(expense), 
net

Total amounts presented in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income in which the effects of cash flow 
and fair value hedges are recorded $ 161,857 $ 5,394 $ 182,527 $ 6,858 $ 257,637 $ 12,020

Gains (Losses) on Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging 

income $ 367 $ 0 $ 144 $ 0 $ 165 $ 0

effectiveness recognized in earnings based on an 
amortization approach 88 0 33 0 (16) 0

Gains (Losses) on Derivatives in Fair Value Hedging 

Hedged items 0 (19) 0 18 0 (95)

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments 0 19 0 (18) 0 95

effectiveness 0 25 0 4 0 8

effectiveness 0 243 0 151 0 82

Hedging Instruments:

0 (413) 0 718 0 (860)

Other Contracts 0 0 0 (906) 0 101

Total gains (losses) $ 455 $ (145) $ 177 $ (33) $ 149 $ (669)
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Offsetting of Derivatives
The gross amounts of derivative instruments subject to master netting arrangements with various counterparties, and cash and 

OFFSETTING OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2020

Gross 
Amounts of 
Recognized 

Assets

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Net Presented in 
the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, but Have Legal Rights to Offset

Net Assets 
Exposed 

Financial 
Instruments

 Cash 
Collateral 
Received

Collateral 
Received

Derivatives $ 397 $ (32) $ 365 $ (295)(1) $ (16) $ 0 $ 54

As of December 31, 2021

Gross 
Amounts of 
Recognized 

Assets

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Net Presented in 
the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, but Have Legal Rights to Offset

Net Assets 
Exposed

Financial 
Instruments

Cash 
Collateral 
Received

Collateral 
Received

Derivatives $ 999 $ (38) $ 961 $ (434)(1) $ (394) $ (12) $ 121

(1) The balances as of December 31, 2020 and 2021 were related to derivative liabilities which are allowed to be net settled against derivative assets in 
accordance with our master netting agreements. 

OFFSETTING OF LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2020

Gross 
Amounts of 
Recognized 

Liabilities

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Net Presented in 
the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, but Have Legal Rights to Offset

Net 
Liabilities

Financial 
Instruments

Cash 
Collateral 

Pledged
Collateral 

Pledged

Derivatives $ 1,554 $ (32) $ 1,522 $ (295)(2) $ (1) $ (943) $ 283

As of December 31, 2021

Gross 
Amounts of 
Recognized 

Liabilities

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Net Presented in 
the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, but Have Legal Rights to Offset

Net 
Liabilities

Financial 
Instruments

Cash 
Collateral 

Pledged
Collateral 

Pledged

Derivatives $ 619 $ (38) $ 581 $ (434)(2) $ (4) $ (110) $ 33

(2) The balances as of December 31, 2020 and 2021 were related to derivative assets which are allowed to be net settled against derivative liabilities in 
accordance with our master netting agreements.
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Note 4. Leases

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Operating lease cost $ 2,267 $ 2,699

Variable lease cost 619 726

Total operating lease cost $ 2,886 $ 3,425

Supplemental information related to operating leases was as follows (in millions):
Year Ended December 31,

2020 2021

Cash payments for operating leases $ 2,004 $ 2,489

$ 2,765 $ 2,951

As of December 31, 2021, our operating leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 8 years and a weighted average 

2022 $ 2,539

2023 2,527

2024 2,226

2025 1,815

2026 1,401

Thereafter 4,948

Total future lease payments 15,456

Less imputed interest (1,878)

Total lease liability balance $ 13,578
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Note 5. Variable Interest Entities

Consolidated VIEs

For certain consolidated VIEs, their assets are not available to us and their creditors do not have recourse to us. As of December 31, 
2020 and 2021, assets that can only be used to settle obligations of these VIEs were $5.7 billion and $6.0 billion, respectively, and 
the liabilities for which creditors only have recourse to the VIEs were $2.3 billion and $2.5 billion, respectively. 

WAYMO

as equity transactions and resulted in recognition of noncontrolling interests.

Unconsolidated VIEs

early stage companies and certain renewable energy entities in which activities involve power generation using renewable sources. 

securities or equity method investments. 

of December 31, 2020 and $2.7 billion and $2.9 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2021.
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Note 6. Debt

Short-Term Debt

as of December 31, 2020 and 2021. 

Long-Term Debt

Effective 
Interest Rate

As of December 31,

Maturity Coupon Rate 2020 2021

Debt

$ 14,000 $ 13,000
(1) 1,201 2,086

Total debt 15,201 15,086

Unamortized discount and debt issuance 
costs (169) (156 )

(2) (999)

payments, net(1)(2) (101) (113)

$ 13,932 $ 14,817

(1) Net of imputed interest.
(2) Total current portion of long-term debt is included within other accrued expenses and current liabilities. See Note 7.

as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The fair value was determined based on observable market prices 
of identical instruments in less active markets and is categorized accordingly as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

2022 $ 187

2023 146

2024 1,159

2025 1,162

2026 2,165

Thereafter 10,621

Total $ 15,440

Credit Facility

as of December 31, 2020 and 2021.

respectively. The interest rates for the new credit facilities are determined based on a formula using certain market rates, as well as 
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Note 7. Supplemental Financial Statement Information 

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,

2020 2021

Land and buildings $ 49,732 $ 58,881

Information technology assets 45,906 55,606

Construction in progress 23,111 23,171

Leasehold improvements 7,516 9,146

197 208

Property and equipment, gross 126,462 147,012

Less: accumulated depreciation (41,713) (49,414)

Property and equipment, net $ 84,749 $ 97,599

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

As of December 31,

2020 2021
(1) $ 10,409 $ 9,799

Payables to brokers for unsettled investment trades 754 397

Accrued customer liabilities 3,118 3,505

Accrued purchases of property and equipment 2,197 2,415

Current operating lease liabilities 1,694 2,189

10,459 12,931

$ 28,631 $ 31,236

(1) Includes the effects of foreign exchange and interest. See Note 10 for further details.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Foreign Currency 
Translation 

Adjustments

Unrealized Gains 
(Losses) on 

Investments

Unrealized Gains 
(Losses) on Cash 

Flow Hedges Total

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ (1,884) $ (688) $ 266 $ (2,306)

Cumulative effect of accounting change 0 0 (30) (30)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
(119) 1,611 36 1,528

effectiveness recorded in AOCI 0 0 (14) (14)

0 (111) (299) (410)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (119) 1,500 (277) 1,104

Balance as of December 31, 2019 (2,003) 812 (41) (1,232)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
1,139 1,313 79 2,531

effectiveness recorded in AOCI 0 0 (37) (37)

0 (513) (116) (629)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,139 800 (74) 1,865

Balance as of December 31, 2020 (864) 1,612 (115) 633

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
(1,442) (1,312) 668 (2,086)

effectiveness recorded in AOCI 0 0 48 48

0 (64) (154) (218)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,442) (1,376) 562 (2,256)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ (2,306) $ 236 $ 447 $ (1,623)

AOCI Components Location

 
to the Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

$ 149 $ 650 $ 82

(38) (137) (18)

111 513 64

Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges

367 144 165

Interest rate contracts 6 6 6

(74) (34) (17)

299 116 154

$ 410 $ 629 $ 218
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Other Income (Expense), Net 

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021
Interest income $ 2,427 $ 1,865 $ 1,499

(1) (100) (135) (346)
(2) 103 (344) (240)

Gain (loss) on debt securities, net 149 725 (110)
Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 2,649 5,592 12,380
Performance fees (326) (609) (1,908)
Income (loss) and impairment from equity method investments, net 390 401 334
Other(3) 102 (637) 411

$ 5,394 $ 6,858 $ 12,020

(1) Interest expense is net of interest capitalized of $167 million, $218 million, and $163 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, 
respectively.

(2) Our foreign currency exchange gain (loss), net, is primarily related to the forward points for our foreign currency hedging contracts and foreign exchange 
transaction gains and losses from the conversion of the transaction currency to the functional currency, offset by the foreign currency hedging contracts’ 
losses and gains.

(3) During the year ended December 31, 2020, we entered into derivatives that hedged the changes in fair value of certain marketable equity securities, which 
resulted in losses of $902 million and gains of $92 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, respectively. The offsetting recognized gains and 
losses on the marketable equity securities are reflected in Gain (loss) on equity securities, net.

 Acquisitions

Fitbit
In January 2021, we closed the acquisition of Fitbit, a leading wearables brand for $2.1 billion. The addition of Fitbit to Google 

cash acquired, $590 million of intangible assets, $1.2 billion of goodwill and $92 million of net liabilities assumed. Goodwill was 

Other Acquisitions 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we completed other acquisitions and purchases of intangible assets for total consideration 

material to our consolidated results of operations, either individually or in the aggregate.



71ALPHABET INC. ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART II
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Note 9. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Google
Google 

Services Google Cloud Other Bets Total

Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 19,921 $ 0 $ 0 $ 703 $ 20,624
Acquisitions 204 53 189 0 446

46 56 5 (2) 105
Allocation in the fourth quarter of 2020(1) (20,171) 18,408 1,763 0 0

Balance as of December 31, 2020 0 18,517 1,957 701 21,175
Acquisitions 0 1,325 382 103 1,810

0 (16) (2) (11) (29)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 0 $ 19,826 $ 2,337 $ 793 $ 22,956

(1) Represents reallocation of goodwill as a result of our change in segments in the fourth quarter of 2020. See Note 15 for further details.

Other Intangible Assets
Information regarding purchased intangible assets was as follows (in millions):

As of December 31, 2020
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Patents and developed technology $ 4,639 $ 3,649 $ 990
Customer relationships 266 49 217
Trade names and other 624 461 163

5,529 4,159 1,370
75 0 75

Total intangible assets $ 5,604 $ 4,159 $ 1,445

As of December 31, 2021
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying

Value

Patents and developed technology $ 4,786 $ 4,112 $ 674
Customer relationships 506 140 366
Trade names and other 534 295 239

5,826 4,547 1,279
138 0 138

Total intangible assets $ 5,964 $ 4,547 $ 1,417

of 0.7 years, 3.5 years, and 4.5 years, respectively. 

For all intangible assets acquired and purchased during the year ended December 31, 2021, patents and developed technology have 

December 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.
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thereafter was as follows (in millions):

2022 $ 537

2023 255

2024 226

2025 98

2026 61

Thereafter 102

$ 1,279

Note 10. Contingencies 

Indemnifications

Legal Matters

ANTITRUST INVESTIGATIONS
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PATENT AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CLAIMS

OTHER 
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Non-Income Taxes

Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity 

Preferred Stock

Class A and Class B Common Stock and Class C Capital Stock

Share Repurchases

Stock Split Effected in Form of Stock Dividend (“Stock Split”)
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Note 12. Net Income Per Share 

millions, except share amounts which are reflected in thousands and per share amounts):

Class A Class B Class C
Basic net income per share:

Allocation of undistributed earnings $ 14,846 $ 2,307 $ 17,190
Denominator

299,402 46,527 346,667 
Basic net income per share $ $ $
Diluted net income per share:

Allocation of undistributed earnings for basic computation $ 14,846 $ 2,307 $ 17,190
 

2,307 0 0 
(126) (20) 126 

Allocation of undistributed earnings $ 17,027 $ 2,287 $ 17,316
Denominator

299,402 46,527 346,667 

Add:
46,527 0 0 

413 0 5,547 
346,342 46,527 352,214 

Diluted net income per share $ $ $
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2020
Class A Class B Class C

Basic net income per share:

Allocation of undistributed earnings $ 17,733 $ 2,732 $ 19,804
Denominator

299,815 46,182 334,819 
Basic net income per share $ $ $
Diluted net income per share:

Allocation of undistributed earnings for basic computation $ 17,733 $ 2,732 $ 19,804
 

2,732 0 0 
(180) (25) 180 

Allocation of undistributed earnings $ 20,285 $ 2,707 $ 19,984
Denominator

299,815 46,182 334,819 

Add:
46,182 0 0 

87 0 6,125 
346,084 46,182 340,944

Diluted net income per share $ $ $

Class A Class B Class C
Basic net income per share:

Allocation of undistributed earnings $ 34,200 $ 5,174 $ 36,659
Denominator

300,310 45,430 321,910
Basic net income per share $ $ $
Diluted net income per share:

Allocation of undistributed earnings for basic computation $ 34,200 $ 5,174 $ 36,659
 

5,174 0 0 
(581) (77) 581 

Allocation of undistributed earnings $ 38,793 $ 5,097 $ 37,240
Denominator

300,310 45,430 321,910

Add:
45,430 0 0 

15 0 10,009
345,755 45,430 331,919

Diluted net income per share $ $ $
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Note 13. Compensation Plans 

Stock Plans

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

STOCK-BASED AWARD ACTIVITIES

Unvested Restricted Stock Units

Number 
of Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Value

19,288,793 $

10,582,700

Vested (11,209,486)

Forfeited/canceled (1,767,294)

16,894,713 $

401(k) Plans
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Note 14. Income Taxes
Income from continuing operations before income taxes consisted of the following (in millions):

2020

Domestic operations $ 16,426 $ 37,576 $ 77,016

Foreign operations 23,199 10,506 13,718

Total $ 39,625 $ 48,082 $ 90,734

2020

Federal and state $ 2,424 $ 4,789 $ 10,126

Foreign 2,713 1,687 2,692

Total 5,137 6,476 12,818

Deferred:

Federal and state 286 1,552 2,018

Foreign (141) (215) (135)

Total 145 1,337 1,883

$ 5,282 $ 7,813 $ 14,701

2020

% % %

Foreign income taxed at different rates ) )

) ) )

) ) )

Federal research credit ) ) )

% % %
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Deferred Income Taxes

liabilities were as follows (in millions):

2020

Deferred tax assets:

$ 580 $ 549

1,049 1,816

Tax credits 3,723 5,179

1,085 1,790

Operating leases 2,620 2,503

Intangible assets 1,525 2,034

Other 981 925

Total deferred tax assets 11,563 14,796

Valuation allowance (4,823) (7,129)

6,740 7,667

Deferred tax liabilities:

(3,382) (5,237)

(1,901) (3,229)

Operating leases (2,354) (2,228)

Other (1,580) (946)

Total deferred tax liabilities (9,217) (11,640)

$ (2,477) $ (3,973)

operating losses, certain state tax credits, net deferred tax assets relating to certain Other Bets, and certain foreign net operating 
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Uncertain Tax Positions

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

$ 4,652 $ 3,377 $ 3,837

Increases related to prior year tax positions 938 372 529

Decreases related to prior year tax positions

Decreases related to settlement with tax authorities

Increases related to current year tax positions 690

$ 3,377 $ 3,837 $

We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision 



81ALPHABET INC. ● ANNUAL REPORT

PART II
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Note 15. Information about Segments and Geographic Areas 

 

 

 

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021

$ $ $ 237,529

659 657 753

455

Total revenues $ $ $ 257,637

$ 48,999 $ 54,606 $

Total income from operations $ $ $

(1) Corporate costs, unallocated includes a fine and legal settlement totaling $2.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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As of December 31,

2020 2021

$ $ 80,207

International 27,645

$ 96,960 $

 —  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS 
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
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 —  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We completed the implementation of certain of our subledgers, which included changes to our processes, procedures and internal 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no 

the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is 
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 —  OTHER INFORMATION
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 —  DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS 
THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
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 PART III

 —  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  
AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

 —  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

 —  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL 
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
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 —  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

 —  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
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 —  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 44
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 45
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 46
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 47
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 48
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 49

Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at  
Beginning of Year Additions Usage

Balance at  
End of Year

$ 729 $ $ $ 753

$ 753 $ $ $

$ $ 2,092 $ $
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 — SIGNATURES

ALPHABET INC.

Sundar Pichai

of the Registrant)

 — POWER OF ATTORNEY

Signature Title Date

Sundar Pichai

Ruth M. Porat

Amie Thuener O'Toole

Director
Frances H. Arnold

Co-Founder and Director

Director
L. John Doerr

Director

Director, Chair
John L. Hennessy

Director
Ann Mather

Director
Alan R. Mulally

Co-Founder and Director
Larry Page

Director
K. Ram Shriram

Director
Robin L. Washington
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As we move forward, we’ll stay focused 
on evolving our products, programs, and 
investments to be even more helpful in the 

On the horizon
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